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RUMSON OPEN SPACE AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING, INC.,  

Plaintiff,  
v. 

BOROUGH OF RUMSON, FAIR SHARE 
HOUSING CENTER, INC., AND 
YELLOW BROOK PROPERTY CO., LLC, 

Defendants.  
____________________________________ 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
MONMOUTH COUNTY 

LAW DIVISION 

DOCKET NO. ______________________ 

CIVIL ACTION 

COMPLAINT IN LIEU OF 
PREROGATIVE WRITS

Plaintiff Rumson Open Space and Affordable Housing, Inc., by and through its counsel, 

Gibbons P.C., does hereby complain by way of this action in lieu of prerogative writs against 

defendants as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Rumson Open Space and Affordable Housing, Inc. (“ROSAH”) is a non-profit 

corporation organized under the laws of the State of New Jersey and having an address of 

P.O. Box 108, Rumson, New Jersey 07760.  ROSAH is established to support the 

development, financing, construction and public support of decent, safe, sanitary and 

affordable housing for low income persons and families (including the elderly, physically 
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handicapped and intellectually handicapped, where appropriate) in the State of New Jersey, 

while also seeking to preserve a permanent legacy of historical buildings, open space, the 

environment and natural habitat, with respect for the real property rights of taxpayers and 

affected residents.  ROSAH has as members both residents of Rumson, and individuals 

who have property interests within and beyond 200 feet of the properties that are the subject 

of the settlement agreements challenged hereby.   

2. Defendant Borough of Rumson (the “Borough”) is a municipality of the State of New 

Jersey, County of Monmouth, having an address of 80 East River Road, Rumson, New 

Jersey 07760, which includes the Mayor, Borough Council, and other municipal officials, 

administrative officers, agents and agencies thereof. 

3. Defendant Fair Share Housing Center, Inc. (“FSHC”) is a non-profit corporation organized 

under the laws of the State of New Jersey and having offices located at 510 Park Boulevard, 

Cherry Hill, New Jersey 08002. 

4. Defendant Yellow Brook Property Co., LLC (“Yellow Brook”) is a New Jersey limited 

liability company with a business address of 247 Bridge Avenue, Suite 5, Red Bank, New 

Jersey 07701.   

5. FSHC and Yellow Brook are each a party to one of the settlement agreements herein 

challenged, and are named as defendants so that they will be subject to the Court’s decision. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

6. ROSAH challenges the consideration and adoption of two resolutions authorizing the 

execution of settlement agreements between the Borough and FSHC, and the Borough and 
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Yellow Brook, purporting to resolve on-going litigation involving the Borough’s 

compliance with its fair share of the regional obligation to provide realistic opportunities 

for the construction of housing affordable to low- and moderate-income families (the 

“Resolutions”).    

7. Specifically, ROSAH alleges that the Borough Council failed to comply with the Open 

Public Meetings Act, N.J.S.A. 10:4-6 et seq. (“OPMA”), during the course of such 

litigation, and unlawfully delegated its authority to negotiate and settle such litigation to a 

standing committee.  This delegation necessarily taints the determinations of the Borough 

Council up to and including the adoption of the Resolutions.   

8. Furthermore, ROSAH alleges that the adoption of the Resolutions themselves was 

arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, and contrary to public policy, as the adoption of the 

Resolutions was done under substantial duress by the Borough and the proposed 

settlements are not consistent with the strong preference for municipalities to continue to 

hold control over their zoning processes, particularly where there is no demonstrable nexus 

between the proposed settlements and the achievement of any goal under the Fair Housing 

Act.   

9. ROSAH further alleges that the Borough failed to “turn square corners” with regard to this 

process, claiming that it was under some form of “gag order” rather than exercising its 

vested powers to zone affirmatively.  These resolutions were therefore negotiated in a 

manner inconsistent with the representative role the Borough’s government has vis-à-vis 

its citizens.  By negotiating these agreements without any public input, the Borough 

MON-L-000755-20   02/28/2020 4:02:00 PM  Pg 3 of 33 Trans ID: LCV2020424752 



4 
2783747.1 116320-102767 

effectively deprived itself and its citizens of the ability to consider and discuss new and 

alternative methods of settlement that would better serve the Borough.   

10. The Settlement Agreements authorized by the Resolutions are also substantively 

inconsistent with the requirements of the Fair Housing Act, N.J.S.A. 52:27D-301 et seq.; 

In re: Adoption of N.J.A.C. 5:96 & 5:97, 221 N.J. 1 (2015) (“Mount Laurel IV”); COAH’s 

Second Round regulations, N.J.A.C. 5:93-1 et seq.; and the Borough code.   

11. Finally, ROSAH notes that these Settlement Agreements effectively authorize contract 

zoning and spot zoning, given the lack of any creation of a realistic opportunity for the 

construction of affordable housing in Rumson, and that the process that has led to these 

Resolutions has violated both the procedural and substantive due process rights of ROSAH, 

its members, and the members of the public at large. 

12. For all of these reasons, and based on the facts as set forth herein, ROSAH requests that 

the Court invalidate the Resolutions, and declare the settlement agreements void. 

FACTS 

Declaratory Judgment Litigation

13. On July 2, 2015, the Borough filed a declaratory judgment action captioned In the Matter 

of the Application of the Borough of Rumson, Docket No. MON-L-2483-15, as envisioned 

by the Supreme Court in Mount Laurel IV, seeking a declaration that its zoning code and 

master plan were consistent with its obligations under the Fair Housing Act and the Mount 

Laurel doctrine for creating realistic opportunities for the construction of housing in 

Rumson affordable to low- and moderate-income families (the “Declaratory Judgment 
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Action”).  It also sought an order granting temporary immunity from other litigation 

challenging this designation.   

14. The Borough had been a participating municipality before the New Jersey Council on 

Affordable Housing (“COAH”), and had taken steps to satisfy its affordable housing 

obligations by adopting its revised Housing Element and Fair Share Plan, addressing its 

then-calculated realistic development potential, and took affirmative steps to implement 

overlay zones, an accessory apartment ordinance, and a development fee ordinance.  The 

Borough also had an approved spending plan.  

15. FSHC, as an interested party, filed a letter in opposition to the request for temporary 

immunity, but temporary immunity was granted by the Court for five (5) months, and 

subsequently extended thereafter on a number of occasions.   

16. Upon information and belief, settlement discussions between the Borough and FSHC were 

and have been on-going from 2015 regarding the Borough’s compliance with its affordable 

housing obligations. 

17. Two years later, in late August of 2017, Yellow Brook filed a motion to intervene based 

on a purported contract for sale of property located in the Borough of Rumson on Buena 

Vista Avenue, claiming that Yellow Brook was “unable to file this motion to intervene 

[sooner] as it did not have a property in the Borough under contract for development.”  Said 

motion was denied. 

18. After filing its motion to intervene, Yellow Brook, through its counsel, sent a demand letter 

to the Borough regarding certain property on Buena Vista Avenue, requesting that its site 

be included in the Borough’s affordable housing plan.  Yellow Brook sent additional 

demand letters in October related to certain properties located at 132 Bingham Avenue, 
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and 91 Rumson Road, requesting a meeting with the Borough to discuss the proposed 

developments and their inclusion in the Borough’s affordable housing plan.   

19. Yellow Brook renewed its motion to intervene, and same was granted in July of 2019.   

20. However, based on a review of the Court’s records, it appears that Yellow Brook has never 

filed its answer in this matter, as directed by the Court’s July 18, 2019 Order.   

21. Settlement negotiations continued with Yellow Brook, FSHC, and the Borough from 2017 

until December of 2019, culminating in the settlement agreements challenged hereby.   

22. Two separate settlement agreements exist: one between the Borough and Yellow Brook 

dated January 16, 2020, and one between the Borough and FSHC also dated January 16, 

2020 (each a “Settlement Agreement,” and collectively, the “Settlement Agreements”).  

23. The Settlement Agreement between the Borough and Yellow Brook specifically provides 

for the rezoning of particular properties at 132 Bingham Avenue and 91 Rumson Road to 

allow for the construction of luxury duplex and triplex units, and a payment of monies and 

contribution to the Borough of certain real property located on Carton Street totaling a 

purported value of $3.15 million dollars, as well as a payment of $31,000 from Yellow 

Brook to FSHC to cover its attorneys’ fees. 

24. The Settlement Agreement between the Borough and FSHC details the overall compliance 

scheme by the Borough, and the determination of the realistic development potential at 51 

units.   

The Creation of an “Affordable Housing Committee” and Inaction by Borough Council 

25. For 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Borough has established a standing committee of the 

Borough Council entitled the “Affordable Housing Committee” (“Committee”) during its 

reorganization meetings.  Members of this Committee were appointed by the Mayor.  
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26. At a minimum, this Committee was comprised of the Mayor, one or two Council 

representatives, and the Chairman of the Planning Board.   

27. There are no provisions of the Borough code governing the scope of conduct or action for 

this Committee.   

28. There are no notices of meetings of the Committee, no reports to the Borough Council from 

the Committee, no available minutes of the Committee, and no apparent public action of 

the Committee.   

29. In 2018, 2019, and 2020, members of this Committee were appointed by the Mayor, and 

included at least two individuals who were part of the alleged “team” negotiating on behalf 

of the Borough, as detailed below.   

30. During the period from August 14, 2018 until January 14, 2020, the minutes of the Borough 

Council show no affirmative action by the Borough Council regarding affordable housing, 

and no discussion of affordable housing issues initiated by the Borough Council.   

31. During that same period, there were no notations in the minutes of the Borough Council 

indicating its having gone into executive session meetings held to discuss any litigation, 

including the Declaratory Judgment Action.   

32. During the public comment session at a December 18, 2018 meeting of the Borough 

Council, in response to a question from an interested member of the public, a 

Councilperson advised that a public meeting regarding affordable housing issues, while 

ideal, would “work against the town and everyone here, and create uncertainly [sic] and 

frustration.”   
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Meetings with “Affected Neighborhoods” and Special Meeting on January 14, 2020 

33. Over the weekend of January 11 and 12, 2020, the Borough held private meetings with 

property owners located within 200 feet of each of the two properties proposed for rezoning 

as part of the Settlement Agreements.   

34. On January 14, 2020, the Borough held a special meeting of the Borough Council to, in 

part, summarize the proposed Settlement Agreements and adopt the Resolutions.   

35. This special meeting was attended by a substantial number of people (on information and 

belief, at least 900), and was originally scheduled to be held in the cafeteria at the 

Forrestdale Middle School.   

36. Following the commencement of the meeting, there was insufficient space to fit all the 

concerned citizens in the cafeteria, and the meeting was suspended and moved from the 

cafeteria to the gymnasium.   

37. Once the meeting was moved, the Borough’s planning consultant, Kendra Lelie, provided 

a description of the proposed Settlement Agreements.   

38. This was the first public session at which any of these proposed compliance mechanisms 

had been discussed since at least August of 2018.   

39. Upon information and belief, this was the only public session at which any of these 

proposed compliance mechanisms had been discussed since July of 2015, when the 

declaratory judgment action was originally filed by the Borough. 
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40. Ms. Lelie’s presentation opened by noting that the Borough had an “Affordable Housing 

Planning Team,” consisting of Ms. Lelie, the Mayor, a Council representative, the Borough 

Administrator, the Borough Engineer, and other professionals including a purported real 

estate development expert and counsel.   

41. Ms. Lelie further advised that the Mayor and Council had been active in their participation 

at the settlement conferences, and that the citizens had “representation from your governing 

body officials, much more than I’ve seen in any other municipality.” 

42. Neither Settlement Agreement was available prior to the meeting, and copies of the 

Resolutions and Settlement Agreements were not made available to the public until after 

their signing on January 16, 2020.   

43. Over the course of the next three hours, Ms. Lelie described a process that was effectively 

a “done deal” and a process where, simply by intervening, it was her opinion that Yellow 

Brook was entitled to force the Borough’s hand.   

44. The Borough, through its various professionals present, advised that it had been subject to 

“confidentiality” and a “gag order” from the day on which it filed its declaratory judgment 

action.   

45. Ms. Lelie advised that “the governing body has spent enormous amount of hours working 

down this settlement agreement to something that is somewhat palatable.”   

46. When pressed on this point, both the Borough Attorney and Ms. Lelie advised that the 

entire process related to the Borough’s compliance with its affordable housing obligations 
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was confidential, but conflated the privilege of settlement negotiations with the overall 

declaratory judgment process.   

47. Nothing in any court order provided any confidentiality in the filings with the Court made 

by Yellow Brook, FSHC, or the Borough, and no court order or Rule of Court required 

proposed compliance mechanisms to be discussed solely in private.   

48. Even if these actions were confidential, any meeting of the Borough Council or of any 

public agency subject to the OPMA would require “adequate notice” as that term is defined 

therein, the keeping of minutes, and the adoption of a resolution authorizing the agency to 

go into executive or closed session for discussions related to litigation, in order for a 

confidential discussion to be held in an executive or closed session.   

49. One resident during the January 14, 2020 meeting noted that “[w]e elected you to represent 

us, and it sounds like you can’t represent us,” to which Ms. Lelie’s response was “that’s 

the frustration with the litigation process.”   

50. One councilperson stated as follows to the assembled community on January 14, 2020: 

Basically, the process sucked.  There’s no question about that.  I’ve been 
living this for five years with everybody . . .  I would have loved to have 
told somebody what was going on.  But I didn’t.  I didn’t even tell my wife.  
The plain fact of the matter is that I know a lot of the people who are 
impacted by these developments right next to their homes.  I’ve seen them 
around town for days and years, knowing that this might end up the way it 
has, and it’s not something that I relish, and its gut-wrenching. From my 
perspective as being somebody who sits up here, and we negotiated a 
settlement with Fair Share Housing, and they said we want you, we’re 
coming after you, … and with the builder, the issue with him was, he says 
he’s there for affordable housing, the plain fact of the matter is he levied the 
system and he really took advantage of the system.  And it’s really very, 
very sad that he’s done that. 
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51. Another member of the Borough Council, who was not a member of the Committee or the 

team, similarly made a statement to the assembled members of the community: 

I’m the most recent addition to the Town Council, and I can tell you when 
I first got onto the Town Council, I couldn’t believe what was going on with 
Mr. Mumford, and my reaction was “tell him no, tell him to screw himself, 
tell him we’re not going to do that, because we have our own rules, and we 
get to make our own rules.  But I’ve been advised we don’t . . . 
Unfortunately, this is one of these times, when as much as I don’t want to 
do it, I’m going to have to swallow hard and vote yes, because we lose our 
immunity on this -- look around town, how many big pieces of property do 
you see that have been on the market for a year, two years?  Look at the 
prices on those properties, and how they continue to come down? . . . I can 
tell you these guys who negotiated this as hard as they could, and I 
personally believe we got the best deal out of this we possibly could.  

COUNT 1 

Violation of Open Public Meetings Act (Borough Council) 

52. ROSAH realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set forth 

herein.   

53. The Borough Council is a public body as defined in the OPMA. 

54. Public bodies may only meet and discuss substantive matters during public meetings at 

which the minutes of such meetings are kept and made available to the public.   

55. Where matters of a confidential nature, including litigation, are to be discussed in closed 

session, the public body must pass a resolution pursuant to the OPMA, advising that a 

portion of the public meeting will be closed in order to discuss such a matter in executive 

session and specifying the general nature of the topic of discussion (e.g., “affordable 

housing litigation”).   

56. The Legislature, in adopting OPMA, found that: 

the right of the public to be present at all meetings of public bodies, and to 
witness in full detail all phases of the deliberation, policy formulation, and 
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decision making of public bodies, is vital to the enhancement and proper 
functioning of the democratic process; that secrecy in public affairs 
undermines the faith of the public in government and the public’s 
effectiveness in fulfilling its role in a democratic society, and hereby 
declares it to be the public policy of this State to insure the right of its 
citizens to have adequate advance notice of and the right to attend all 
meetings of public bodies at which any business affecting the public is 
discussed or acted upon in any way except only in those circumstances 
where otherwise the public interest would be clearly endangered or the 
personal privacy or guaranteed rights of individuals would be clearly in 
danger of unwarranted invasion. [N.J.S.A. 10:4-7.] 

57. At no point during the period from August 14, 2018 to the present was there an adoption 

of a resolution at a public meeting of the Borough Council to authorize the Borough 

Council to go into closed session in order to discuss settlements or updates regarding the 

Declaratory Judgment Action. 

58. The Borough Council is the only entity validly permitted to consider or commit the 

municipality to engage in or settle litigation, and can only make such determinations during 

meetings conducted in accordance with the OPMA, be it in open meetings or in closed 

sessions that comport with the requirements of the OPMA.    

59. During the January 14, 2020 special meeting, the Borough, through Ms. Lelie, advised the 

public that the Council had spent “enormous hours” on the Settlement Agreements, and 

yet, not a single set of meeting minutes reflect any instance in which there was a discussion, 

other than by way of public comment, either at a public meeting or during an executive 

session held during a public meeting, regarding the Declaratory Judgment Action.   

60. No actions were authorized by the Borough Council regarding the settlement of the 

Declaratory Judgment Action prior to January 14, 2020, despite clear representations that 

members of the Borough Council were somehow informed and advised as to the status of 

the Declaratory Judgment Action and their apparent rights.   
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61. By failing to conduct discussions during an open meeting, or during the closed portion of 

a public meeting, the Borough Council could not have been in a position to validly consider 

its options in the Declaratory Judgment Action, and evaluate the propriety of entering into 

settlements with FSHC or Yellow Brook.   

62. If the Borough Council did have discussions regarding the settlement of the Declaratory 

Judgment Action in a non-public meeting, then such discussions are similarly unlawful and 

in violation of OPMA’s “adequate notice” requirement, as the public was unaware of a 

meeting during which the Borough Council was acting in an official capacity.   

63. Therefore, any directions given by the Borough Council during this period to its counsel, 

as well as any consideration of the proposed settlements, are thereby rendered void.   

64. Further, any actions taken by the Borough with regard to such settlement negotiations are 

ultra vires, and are not subject to ratification, based on the pervasive and consistent 

violations of OPMA by the Borough.   

65. This failure to conform with the obligations of the OPMA renders the consideration of, and 

entry into, the Resolutions and the  Settlement Agreements void.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council in approving the Resolutions and in 

approving the Settlement Agreements were ultra vires and otherwise arbitrary, 

capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 
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COUNT 2 

Violation of Open Public Meetings Act (Affordable Housing Committee) 

66. ROSAH realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set forth 

herein.   

67. Upon information and belief, the Borough of Rumson created a standing committee, the 

membership of which was appointed annually by the Mayor during the reorganization 

meeting, called the Affordable Housing Committee.  

68. This Committee was comprised, at a minimum, of the Mayor, one or two Councilpersons, 

and the Chairman of the Planning Board.   

69. Upon information and belief, this Committee was created to address the Borough’s 

affordable housing needs, and was therefore created as a committee under the laws of the 

State of New Jersey to perform a public governmental function affecting the rights of the 

citizens of the Borough, address and discuss affordable housing in Rumson, including the 

settlement of the Declaratory Judgment Action.   

70. Upon information and belief, this Committee is the same group that was introduced at the 

January 14, 2020 special meeting of the Borough Council, as the “Affordable Housing 

Planning Team.” 

71. Upon information and belief, the Committee is a public body as defined in the OPMA. 

72. Based on the failure of the Borough Council to discuss the settlement of the Declaratory 

Judgment Action at any meeting from mid-2018 to January 14, 2020, it appears that the 

Borough Council delegated its authority to act and consider these matters to the Committee. 
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73. No notices of meetings, minutes, agenda, resolutions, or reports of the Committee 

apparently exist, despite the fact that this was a standing committee of the Borough Council 

designed to ostensibly address and discuss affordable housing in Rumson, including the 

settlement of the Declaratory Judgment Action. 

74. To the extent this Committee met at any point, any actions thereof – whether in public or 

private session – would be necessarily void. 

75. Any direction given by this Committee, whether to Borough professionals or to others, 

would be necessarily void, and are not subject to ratification, based on the pervasive and 

consistent violations of OPMA by the Committee. 

76. Any actions of the Committee reporting to the members of the Borough Council would be 

similarly tainted by the violations of the OPMA and thereby would render the Resolutions 

and Settlement Agreements void.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council, the Committee and the Affordable 

Housing Team were ultra vires and otherwise arbitrary, capricious, and 

unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 
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COUNT 3 

Borough’s Actions Not Consistent with Limitations  
of Borough Form of Government 

77. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

78. All authority to sue and be sued is vested in the Borough Council under a borough form of 

government.  N.J.S.A. 40A:60-4.  

79. Under the Borough form of government, the Borough Council may create standing 

committees for certain purposes pursuant to the Borough’s administrative code.  N.J.S.A. 

40A:60-7. 

80. No provisions of the Borough’s administrative code provide any basis for the creation of 

any standing committees, including the Affordable Housing Committee or the so-called 

“Affordable Housing Planning Team.” 

81. Nothing in the borough form of government allows for the creation of a separate “team” to 

act on behalf of the Borough.   

82. Furthermore, even if the standing committees existed, the standing committees shall not 

exercise any authority or power, nor authorize any procedures, unless such authority is 

expressly considered and granted by N.J.S.A. 40A:60-1 et seq.   

83. The Borough Council failed, for a period of at least eighteen months, to consider any action 

with regard to the Declaratory Judgment Action during a public meeting conducted in 

accordance with the OPMA.   

84. Upon information and belief, it appears that such authority was unlawfully vested in either 

the Committee or the so-called “Affordable Housing Planning Team.”  
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85. Any action directed by the Committee without the assent and approval of the Borough 

Council is necessarily void. 

86. Alternatively, any action directed by the Affordable Housing Planning Team would also 

be void.   

87. The Borough Council may only act at public meetings, during either open or executive 

sessions, in strict compliance with OPMA.   

88. No standing committees exist under the Borough code, and no standards for the actions of 

such standing committees exist under the Borough code. 

89. No actions were authorized by the Borough Council regarding the settlement of the 

Declaratory Judgment Action prior to January 14, 2020, despite clear representations that 

members of the Borough Council were somehow informed and advised as to the status of 

the Declaratory Judgment Action and their apparent rights.   

90. Either the Borough failed to act, acted in a manner inconsistent with the OPMA, or 

unlawfully delegated its authority to either an unlawful standing committee or a separate 

“team.”  In any of these events, the actions of the Borough are contrary to the borough form 

of government, and are therefore ultra vires and void.   

91. Therefore, all actions of the Committee or Affordable Housing Planning Team that have 

not been expressly authorized by the Borough Council, including the negotiation of the 

Settlement Agreements, are thereby void.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council, the Committee, and the Affordable 

Housing Planning Team were ultra vires and otherwise arbitrary, capricious, and 

unreasonable;  
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b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 4 

Resolutions are Arbitrary, Capricious or Unreasonable and Contrary to the Public Interest 

92. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

93. Municipalities may adopt resolutions only when such resolutions are lawful, consistent 

with municipal and public policy, and when such actions are not arbitrary, capricious, or 

unreasonable.   

94. The adoption of the Resolutions by the Borough Council was unreasonable because the 

Borough Council was not informed regarding the Declaratory Judgment Action in a 

manner consistent with OPMA, and failed to ever discuss the Declaratory Judgment Action 

in a manner consistent with OPMA from at least August 14, 2018 to the present. 

95. While individual members of the Borough Council may have had knowledge, such 

knowledge was communicated to them in a manner inconsistent with the OPMA, and their 

subsequent decision making process is necessarily tainted by this failure to strictly comply 

with the requirements of OPMA.   

96. The Resolutions as adopted are contrary to public policy, because the settlements as 

proposed will increase densities unreasonably within the Borough in a manner inconsistent 
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with sound planning principles, and do not create a realistic opportunity for development 

of low- and moderate-income households.   

97. Upon information and belief, there are significant environmental constraints limiting the 

development potential of the properties identified by the Resolutions.   

98. Notwithstanding the environmental concerns regarding the proposed luxury developments 

by Yellow Brook, the Settlement Agreement, without any rational basis for doing so, 

exempts by contract Yellow Brook from compliance with the provisions of the Borough’s 

tree ordinance, as codified at Section 16-1 et seq. of the Borough code, which requires 

mitigation for projects involving substantial tree removal.   

99. The Settlement Agreements make no representations concerning the availability of sanitary 

sewer capacity and water capacity to serve the development of 132 Bingham Avenue and 

91 Rumson Road which Yellow Brook proposes. 

100. The Resolutions do not advance the public interest of preserving historically significant 

properties by providing for construction of luxury market rate duplex and triplex units in 

place of the existing structure at 91 Rumson Road, which has been recognized as 

historically significant, and is listed on both the National Register of Historic Places and 

the New Jersey Register of Historic Places under its historic name of Lauriston.   

101. The Resolutions do not advance the public interest of creating realistic opportunities for 

the construction of affordable housing, because the Settlement Agreements propose 

increases in density on certain properties without any guarantee that such properties will 

have any affordable set-asides, aside from a reference back to the terms of the Settlement 

Agreements with Yellow Brook requiring a payment-in-lieu as negotiated in the terms of 

the Settlement Agreements.  
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102. The proposed rezonings required by the Settlement Agreements authorized by the 

Resolutions do not guarantee the construction of a single affordable housing unit.  Only if 

Yellow Brook commences construction is there any obligation under these agreements to 

build any affordable housing within the Borough, and no rezoning is proposed for the 

Carton Street property that is allegedly the solution for satisfying a portion of the 

Borough’s affordable housing needs.   

103. The Settlement Agreement with Yellow Brook expressly recognizes that the property 

located on Carton Street may have no development potential, and would instead obligate 

Yellow Brook to simply make a cash payment in lieu of construction.   

104. No provision of the Borough code permits off-site construction or payments-in-lieu as a 

compliance mechanism, and the Resolutions do not propose any revision of the Borough 

code, and neither do the Settlement Agreements.   Accordingly, such a settlement is both 

contrary to the Borough code and contrary to the interest in seeing actual units developed.   

105. No basis is provided in any part of the Resolutions, the Settlement Agreements, the Second 

Round regulations of COAH, the Fair Housing Act, or the Borough code for establishing 

the value of the payment in lieu of construction.   

106. By failing to follow or establish any rational basis for the calculation of such a payment in 

lieu, this provides the clear appearance that Yellow Brook is purchasing a rezoning of 

certain properties from the Borough, amounting to a quid pro quo for the Borough’s 

approval of the Resolutions.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  
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b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 5 

Failure to Comply with Fair Housing Act and Mount Laurel IV 

107. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

108. As a participating municipality under Mount Laurel IV, the Borough maintains its ability 

to zone for its affordable housing obligations, and to discuss certain compliance 

mechanisms and make proposals for satisfying its realistic development potential.  

109. The Fair Housing Act places an affirmative duty on the municipality to zone to create 

realistic opportunities for the construction of housing for low- and moderate-income 

households, and allowed municipalities to petition COAH for certification of its zoning 

and planning mechanisms.  See, e.g., N.J.S.A. 52:27D-309, -311.  Mount Laurel IV was 

intended to parallel that process.   

110. No judgment of constitutional non-compliance has been entered, and Mount Laurel IV 

makes clear that there is no presumption of non-compliance that should be applied to the 

Borough as a participating municipality, particularly where it had taken affirmative steps 

towards achieving compliance.  See, e.g., Mount Laurel IV, 221 N.J. 1, 36-37 (2015).   

111. The Court recognized, when it first denied Yellow Brook’s motion to intervene, that no 

person or entity has a right “to demand inclusion of its property in the Borough’s fair share 
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housing plan or to position itself for a pre-emptive builder’s remedy action if it is found 

that the Borough has not complied with its Third Round obligations.”  Rider to Order dated 

September 29, 2017, IMO Borough of Rumson, Docket No. MON-L-2483-15, p. 4 (Perri, 

J.). 

112. Even upon granting Yellow Brook’s motion to intervene, the Court was very careful to 

note that Yellow Brook’s interest in developing the properties it has under contract “cannot 

be harmonized with the temporary immunity granted to the Borough during the pendency 

of this litigation.”  Rider to Order dated July 18, 2019, IMO Borough of Rumson, Docket 

No. MON-L-2483-15, p. 2 (Perri, J.). 

113. However, the Settlement Agreements effectively grant site-specific relief to a specific 

developer – Yellow Brook – rather than simply rezoning particular properties.   

114. Only where a municipality does not have the ability to satisfy its obligations through 

affirmative zoning should the site-specific demands of a particular developer be 

considered.   

115. The Resolutions and the resultant Settlement Agreements are inconsistent with the 

direction of the Fair Housing Act and Mount Laurel IV, and are otherwise arbitrary, 

capricious, or unreasonable.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 
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d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 6 

Failure to Comply with Second Round Regulations, N.J.A.C. 5:93 

116. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

117. COAH’s second round regulations, N.J.A.C. 5:93-1 et seq., expressly require that a site 

proposed for inclusionary development be available, suitable, developable, and 

approvable, as those terms as defined in N.J.A.C. 5:93-1.   

118. The Settlement Agreement with Yellow Brook expressly notes that it is unknown whether 

the Carton Street property, which is the only property on which affordable housing is 

actually proposed for development, is available, suitable, developable, and approvable.   

119. No evidence has been provided by the Borough that either the property at 91 Rumson Road 

or the property at 132 Bingham Avenue are available, suitable, developable, and 

approvable.  

120. COAH’s second round regulations prefer actual development of units to payments in lieu.   

121. COAH’s second round regulations, specifically N.J.A.C. 5:93-8.10(c), provide that the 

municipality may allow a developer of sites zoned for inclusionary development to pay a 

fee in lieu.  This requires that the properties be actually zoned for inclusionary 

development, which neither the Resolutions nor the Settlement Agreements contemplate.   

122. The Mount Laurel doctrine is one related expressly to zoning, rather than one of contractual 

obligation, and requires that a municipality provide a set-aside ordinance for development 
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of inclusionary developments.  See, e.g., S. Burlington Co. NAACP v. Tp. of Mt. Laurel, 

92 N.J. 158, 268 (1983).   

123. Without language creating an actual affordable housing set-aside for either of the 

ordinances proposed, the Resolutions give the clear impression that Yellow Brook is 

purchasing a rezoning of certain properties from the Borough, amounting to a quid pro quo

for the Borough’s approval of the Resolutions.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 7 

Failure to Make Comprehensive Findings 

124. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

125. The Borough Council failed to make any requisite or comprehensive findings of fact on 

the record during the January 14, 2020 special meeting supporting the Resolutions. 

126. The failure of the members of the Borough Council to make specific or adequate findings 

with regard to the authorizing Resolutions causes the decisions to be defective and invalid.   
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127. The Resolutions merely restate the recitals of each of the respective Settlement 

Agreements, and do not reflect the discussions which took place during the January 14, 

2020 meeting, or any of the concerns raised during that session. 

128. Accordingly, the Resolutions are necessarily void.   

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 8 

Spot Zoning 

129. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

130. At the request of and for the benefit of Yellow Brook, the Yellow Brook Resolution and 

the Settlement Agreement provide for the rezoning of properties at 132 Bingham Avenue 

and 91 Rumson Road, for which Yellow Brook is in contract, to allow for the construction 

of luxury market rate duplex and triplex units, despite the fact that such rezoning is 

incompatible with the surrounding single-family homes on large lots and is not for the 

purpose or effect or furthering the Borough’s master plan. 
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131. The rezoning of properties at 132 Bingham Avenue and 91 Rumson Road is couched under 

the guise of providing affordable housing, when in reality, inclusionary affordable housing 

is not required by the terms of the Settlement Agreements and, therefore, there is no 

assurance that allowing Yellow Brook to develop a total of 34 luxury market rate duplex 

and triplex units will result in the construction of any affordable housing at all. 

132. The Resolutions and the Settlement Agreements relieve Yellow Brook from the burden of 

having to seek a use variance to permit development of the 34 luxury market rate homes it 

desires to build, in a neighborhood where such development is wholly incompatible, but 

do not advance the community’s goals, do not further any legitimate planning purpose, and 

will not necessarily result in the construction of any affordable housing. 

133. Accordingly, the Resolutions and the Settlement Agreements constitute impermissible spot 

zoning and must be declared null and void. 

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 
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COUNT 9 

Contract Zoning 

134. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

135. The Settlement Agreement with Yellow Brook contractually obligates the Borough to 

rezone properties at 132 Bingham Avenue and 91 Rumson Road to allow for the 

construction of luxury market rate duplex and triplex units. 

136. In exchange for this rezoning, Yellow Brook will pay money and contribute to the Borough 

certain real property located on Carton Street, totaling a purported value of $3.15 million 

dollars. 

137. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement with FSHC, Yellow Brook will also make a payment 

of $31,000 to FSHC to its cover attorneys’ fees. 

138. The Settlement Agreement with Yellow Brook values the Carton Street property at the 

price Yellow Brook paid, without consideration of an appraisal or any established valuation 

standard. 

139. The Borough lacks standards validly adopted by ordinance for the valuation of the Carton 

Street property. 

140. The Borough lacks standards validly adopted by ordinance for determining the amount of 

the in-lieu fee. 

141. In the absence of an ordinance providing for an affordable housing set-aside, the Settlement 

Agreement with Yellow Brook amounts to an unlawful quid pro quo. 

142. The Yellow Brook Settlement Agreement exempts by contract Yellow Brook from 

compliance with the provisions of the Borough’s tree ordinance, as codified at Section 16-
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1 et seq. of the Borough code, which requires mitigation for projects involving substantial 

tree removal, in exchange for payment of money and contribution to the Borough of certain 

real property located on Carton Street, totaling a purported value of $3.15 million dollars. 

143. The Resolutions and the Settlement Agreements constitute unlawful contract zoning. 

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 10 

Failure to Turn Square Corners 

144. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

145. Municipalities such as the Borough owe a duty to Plaintiff and the public to “turn square 

corners,” which duty was articulated by the Supreme Court of the State of New Jersey in 

F.M.C. Stores Co. v. Township of Morris Plains, 100 N.J. 418 (1985), among other cases. 

146. As set forth above, the Borough Council failed to conduct its business in a lawful and open 

process, and failed to adequately inform the public and/or citizens of Rumson of its actions, 

thereby rendering its actions void and voidable.   
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147. These actions violate fundamental concepts of fairness and represent a dereliction of the 

Borough’s duty to the public and the citizens of Rumson to “turn square corners.” 

148. Accordingly, the Resolutions are necessarily void. 

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements invalid, illegal, null, void and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 11 

Procedural Due Process

149. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

150. Members of ROSAH are owners of property in the Borough. 

151. The pervasive and consistent failure of the Borough Council to act in a manner consistent 

with law as it unlawfully discussed, directed, and settled the Declaratory Judgment Action 

under color of state law deprived ROSAH, its members, and the public of their rights to 

procedural due process as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

152. The pervasive and consistent failure of the Borough Council to act in a manner consistent 

with law as it unlawfully discussed, directed, and settled the Declaratory Judgment Action 

under color of state law deprived ROSAH, its members, and the public of their rights to 
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procedural due process as guaranteed by Article 1, paras. 1 and 20 of the New Jersey 

Constitution. 

153. ROSAH has availed itself, through this action, of remedies provided by state law, and such 

remedies may be inadequate. 

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

unconstitutional, arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions unconstitutional, invalid, illegal, null, void and without 

effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements unconstitutional, invalid, illegal, null, void 

and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

COUNT 12 

Substantive Due Process

154. ROSAH repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations of the Complaint as if fully 

set forth herein. 

155. Members of ROSAH are owners of property in the Borough. 

156. The pervasive and consistent failure of the Borough Council to act in a manner consistent 

with law as it unlawfully discussed, directed, and settled the Declaratory Judgment Action 

under color of state law shocks the conscience, and deprived ROSAH, its members, and 

the public of their rights to substantive due process as guaranteed by the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
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157. The pervasive and consistent failure of the Borough Council to act in a manner consistent 

with law as it unlawfully discussed, directed, and settled the Declaratory Judgment Action 

under color of state law shocks the conscience, and deprived ROSAH, its members, and 

the public of their rights to substantive due process as guaranteed by Article 1, paras. 1 and 

20 of the New Jersey Constitution in violation of N.J.S.A. 10:6-2. 

158. ROSAH has availed itself, through this action, of remedies provided by state law, and such 

remedies may be inadequate. 

WHEREFORE, ROSAH demands judgment as follows: 

a. declaring the actions of the Borough Council were ultra vires and otherwise 

unconstitutional, arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable;  

b. declaring the Resolutions unconstitutional, invalid, illegal, null, void and without 

effect; 

c. declaring the Settlement Agreements unconstitutional, invalid, illegal, null, void 

and without effect; 

d. awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs of suit and such other and further equitable 

relief as may be just and proper. 

GIBBONS P.C.
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Rumson Open Space and Affordable 
Housing, Inc. 

By:
 Howard D. Geneslaw, Esq. 
 Cameron W. MacLeod, Esq. 

Dated:  February 28, 2020 
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DESIGNATION OF TRIAL COUNSEL

Pursuant to R. 4:25-4, Rumson Open Space and Affordable Housing, Inc. hereby 

designates Cameron W. MacLeod, Esq., as trial counsel in this matter.   

GIBBONS P.C.
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Rumson Open Space and Affordable 
Housing, Inc. 

By:
 Howard D. Geneslaw, Esq. 
 Cameron W. MacLeod, Esq. 

Dated:  February 28, 2020 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO R. 4:5-1 

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, this matter is not 

the subject of any other actions pending in any court or pending arbitration proceedings, except 

for In the Matter of the Application of the Borough of Rumson, Docket No. MON-L-2483-15, and 

no other such court proceedings or arbitration proceedings are presently contemplated.  

GIBBONS P.C.
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Rumson Open Space and Affordable 
Housing, Inc. 

By:
 Howard D. Geneslaw, Esq. 
 Cameron W. MacLeod, Esq. 

Dated:  February 28, 2020 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO R. 1:38-7 

I certify that confidential personal identifiers have been redacted from documents now 

submitted to the Court, and will be redacted from all documents submitted in the future in 

accordance with R. 1:38-7(b).  

GIBBONS P.C.
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Rumson Open Space and Affordable 
Housing, Inc. 

By:
 Howard D. Geneslaw, Esq. 
 Cameron W. MacLeod, Esq. 

Dated:  February 28, 2020 
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